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PREAMBLE

“These are the things that ye shall do, speak ye every man the truth
to his neighbour, execute the judgment of truth and peace in your
gates, and let none of you imagine evil in your hearts against his
neighbout, and love no false oath for all these are things - that I
hate, said the Lord -

Zecharigh 8 v 16 and 17,

SUMMARY

This report is about the Public Service Commission’s appointment of Mr Jean Sese
to the post of Director-General of the Prime Minister's Office.

In two recent public reports the Ombudsman found that Mr Sese had been grossly
Incompetent as Director of Foreign Affairs. The second report found that during a five
year period Mr Sese allowed the improper issue of about sixty diplomatic and official
passports. Two of the more notable examples are Jae Yong (Richard) JUNG, a
convicted criminal from South Korea and fugitive from justice and Peter Harold
Swanson, the person later convicted of multiple fraud charges relating to the US$100
milion Bank Guarantee Scam. As a result of her findings, the Ombudsman
recommended that Mr Sese face disciplinary action.

The Public Service Commission followed the recommendation. A Disciplinary Board
hearing sat and convicted Mr Sese. However, because that Disciplinary Board had
not received (nor requested) any adequate instructions, guidance or help from anyone
it failed to follow the proper procedures required for the hearing. This resulted in the
decision being quashed on advice from the Aftorney General who considered that
proper procedure had not been followed.

Since that time, the Public Service Commission has not reconvened a propetly
constituted Disciplinary Board to hear the case against Mr Sese with the proper
calling of evidence and other procedures. To date, Mr Sese has not yet been held
accountable for his conduct in relation to the improper issue of diplomatic and official
passports. It should also be noted that Ministers, against whom, far mare serious
findings were made also have not been held accountable as yet. | recommended
criminal investigation by the Police but this has not resulted in any action that | have
been informed of being taken to date.

The Ombudsman’s investigations into the matter of Mr Sese’s appointment have
raised serious concerns about the transparency of appointments made by the Public
Service Commission, who could give no adequate explanation as to why this
appointment was made while the issue of the illegal passports was still to be dealt
with.

For avoidance of doubt, | wish to make it clear that the new Prime Minister (Rt Hon

Kalpokas), the Office of the Prime Minister and the new Council of Ministers did not
interfere with the processes of the Public Service Commission.

JURISDICTION

The DOffice of the Ombudsman is established under the Constitution. The role of the
Ombudsman is set out under article 62(1) as fallows:

62.(1) The Ombudsman may enquire inta the conduct of any persan or bedy to which
this Anticle applies—
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{a) upen receiving .a complaint from a member of the public (or, if for
reasons of incapacity, from his representative or a member of his
tamily) who claims to have been the victim of an injustice as a result of
particular conduct;

{b) at the requaest of a Minister, 2 member of Pariament, of the National
Caouncil of Chiefs or of a Local Government Council: or

{c} of his own initiative.
{2) This Article shall apply to all public servants, public authorities and

ministerial departments, with the exception of tha President of the Republic,
the Judicial Service Commission, the Supreme Court and other judicial bodies.

(Emphasis added)

The Public Service Commission is a public authority because it has authority over
the Public Service (see belew in section relevant laws). The Public Service
Commission therefore falls within the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman.

RELEVANT LAWS

Functions Of Public Service Commission

Article 60 of the Constitution states:

(1) The Public Service Commission shall be responsible for the
appointment and promotion of public servants, and the
selection of those to underge training courses in Vanuatu or
overseas. For such purposes it may organise competitive examinations.

(@) The Commission shall also be responsible for the discipline of
public servanis.

(3 The Commission shall have no authaority aver the members of the judiciary, the
armed forces, the pelice and the teaching services.

(4) The Commission shall not be subject to the direction or control
of any other persen or body in the exercise of its functions.

(emphasis added)

3.2

33

3.4

3.5

The Public Service Act [Cap 129] adds to the functions of the PSC, including the
reviewing of the machinery of Government (sectien 3(1)(a)), acting as a personnel
authority (secticn 3(1)(f)) and obtaining consultancy services and advice for efficient
work practices in the Public Service (section 3(1)(h)).

Disciplinary hearings

Section 11 of the Act prescribes certain conduct and behaviour by public servants as
disciplinary offences. Mr Sese as former Director of the Department of Foreign Affairs
is a public servant subject o section 11.

Sections 12 to 16 and the Public Service Disciplinary Board (Procedure) Rules set up
the machinery and procedures for the consideration and determination of disciplinary
offences by a Public Service Disciplinary Board ("PSDB”) and the PSC itself. The
PSDB is made up of 5 members (section 12(1)). These are a PSC Commissioner,
two public servants and two other persons. The PSC Commissioner is to be the
chairman of the PSDB.

The PSDB operates very much like a Court in that it formally charges a public
servant (rules 4 and 5) who then pleads (rule 8). The PSDB proceeds to hear
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evidence (section 15 and rule 8) and the public servant can be represented by a
lawyer. The evidence is to be recorded in writing and forms part of the record (rule
18).

Section 14 allows a right of appeal to a public officer exercisable within 15 days of
the PSDB decision.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND COMMENTARY
introduction
The members of the Public 3ervice Commission invelved in this matter were:

Mr Joseph Kalo, Chairman, retired school teacher, public servant and former MP
(UMP)

Mr Edwin Basil, Member, Taxi driver and previously printery machinist and
sales representative

Mr Kalbovi Mangawai, Member, Director of Youth and Sports.

The members of the Public Service Disciplinary Board who sat for Mr Sese’s hearing
were:

Mr Edwin Basil, Chairman (details above)
Mrs Annie Rose Bahn, Member, Accountant at Ports and Marine Depariment
Mr Noah Sacksack, Managing Director for the Vanuatu Credit Unien Leagues

Mr Tom Tally, Member, Pastor of Presbytarian Church opposite Independence
Park.

There was an interview panel whose task it was fo interview a short list of
candidates for the positions of Director-General to head government departments,
The Panel then made comments to the Public Service Commission on the qualiéy of
the candidates and recommended for each post which candidate (if any) should be
appointed. The members of the Interview Panel were:

Mr Joseph Kalo, Chairman of the PSC
Mr Kranklin Kere, former senior Vanuatu Government Cfficial

Ms Susanna Tuisawau, a senior public servant from Fiji, President of the Fijian
Teachers Association

Chronology Of Events

Date
03.12.97

16.12.87

23.12.97

Event

Ombudsman sends first passports report making adverse findings
against Mr Sese' to Public Service Commission (PSC). Recommends
disciplinary hearing.

PSC sits and decides to suspend Mr Sese “for an allegation of selling
Vanuatu passporis’.

PSC (Mr Boe) gives written nofice to Mr Sese of his suspension.
Copies notice to Attormey General.

Ombudsman's Public Report on appointment cf Aesort Las Vegas Group as agent for
“Immigration Scheme for Vanuatu” and on the conduct of Prime Minister Bt Hon Serge Vohor

and Foreign Affairs Minister Hon Vidal Soksok in assisting the grant of cilizenship and issue
of ardinary and official pass ae Yong (Ric Jung, 3 Decamber 1997




11.01.98
19.01.98

26.01.98
27.01.98

27.01.98
02.02.97

05.02.98
02.02.98
16.02.98

18.02.28
24.02.98

27.02.98

28.02.98

10.03.98

13.03.98

15.03.98

17.03.99

17.03.98

Mr Sese applies for post of Director General in Prime Minister's Office.

AG (Mr Kalsakau) cautions PSC (Mr Boe) over its suspension of
Mr Sese "out of an allegation of the selling of passports on his part™

Mr Sese served with summons to attend PSDB hearing on 05.02.98.

PSC sits. Reconsiders its suspension of Mr Sese. PSC maintains
suspension of Mr Sese

Mr Sese forwards CV to Public Service Department (Mr Job Boe).

Mr Sese writes to PS Disciplinary Board ("PSDB") raises “preliminary
legal concemns™ about the PSDB and his suspension. Also states
Ombudsman’s Office and PSDB “corroborating with each other
conceming my case.”

PSDB holds hearing and finds charge proven against Mr Sese.

PSC formally advise Mr Sese in writing of PSDB decision.

Mr Sese forwards CV to Public Service Commission (Mr Kanam
Wilson)

Mr Sese files appeal against PSDB decision.

PSC sits and receives Mr Sese’s appeal. Decides to hear it at next
meeting.

Director General Interview Panel interview Mr Sese for post of DG.

DG Interview Panel recommend Mr Sese for post of DG.

PSC sits. Sese attends. Advises 2 grounds of appeal; Basil should
not be on PSDB; and no witnesses called. PSC defer case pending
legal advice from AG.

Ombudsman sends second passport report making adverse findings
against Mr Sese” to PSC, Recommends disciplinary hearing.

Mr Kalo alleges Mr Boe told him to drop the whole case against
Mr Sese.

PS Office (K. Wilson) submits paper to PSC re DG candidates; says
defer appointment of Mr Sese.

2pm PSC meets to consider PSDB decision. PSC sends PSC secretary
Bebe for legal advice from AG.

It should be noted that the Ombudsman has never made any finding that Mr Sese sold
passports. Rather the Ombudsman stated in her reports that Mr Sese had issued passports
unlawfully and improperly.

Ombudsman’s Public Report cn the improper and unlawful issue of diplomatic and official
uassnmts to 'Honorarv Gnnsuis Trade Commlssroners" and other "Snemal " Vanuaty

ﬂaum Qﬂ t!_'ae mpfgpgr and ug reasanable nsj ugtlong of F'nmg Mm@lgr Flt ng Sg[gg Vohor,
Foreign Affairs Minister Vidal Scksok, former Prime Minister Hon MC Korman & former
Foreign_Affairs Minister Hon Wilie Jimmy & former Finance Minister Hon Barak Sope, 13
March 1598



17.03.98 3pm Mr Bebe obtains oral legal advice from AG Bulu and Mr Kalsakau.

Advice is to quash decision because process wrong; reinvestigate
matter properly and consider bringing other charges.

17.03.98 ?pm PSC Chairman Kalo, meets with Mr Sese and exchanges apologies.

Also present Job Boe and Bergmans Bebe. See annexure 1.

24.03.98 PSC meets and repeats quashing of PSDB decision against Mr Sese.
Defers appointment of Sese as DG.

31.03.98 PSC minutes note Sese appointed as DG but minutes also state
appointment deferred. Minutes unclear.

31.03.98 approx. Mr Boe gives Prime Minister, Rt Hon Kalpokas, list of Director Generals
for information.

02.04.98 Committee of Ministers receives list of appointed Director-Generals.

To date The PSC has not opened a new disciplinary hearing or other enquiry

4.4
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4.7

(a)

to loock at the matters of fact found against Mr Sese in the
Ombudsman’s reports.

Public Service Disciplinary Board (“PSDB”) decision

In my opinion, the PSC was correct to quash the PSDB decision. The PSDB
decision was based on a hearing that was procedurally defective. Moreover, there
was no proper hearing. This was because, amongst other things no evidence was
presented from witnesses and therefore the charge could not have been proved. The
PSC’s quashing of the decision did not amount to an acquittal for Mr Sese. What
happenead was the equivalent of a mis-trial by a Court. In such circumstances, an
Appeal Court usually will order a fresh trial. In my opinion, this is what the PSC
should have done - order a new disciplinary board hearing.

The PSDB did not seek any legal assistance from the Attorney General's chambers in
preparing for the disciplinary hearing or in preparing the charges. Likewise, the
PSDE did not seek any legal assistance during the hearing. Indeed, the hearing of
what might have been expected to take a number of days only tock a few hours.
The PSC Board members did not think to suggest that legal advice be sought. Nor
did the acting secretary for the PS Office, Mr Job Boe, take the initiative and arrange
for help for the PSDB members and its secretary Mr Bebe.

In quashing the decision, the PSC was following the advice of the Attorney General
in part. The PSC however chose to ignore the other part of the advice from the
Attorney General and that was that the case of Mr Sese should be started again.
This advice was logical and consistent with the fact that the PSC had in the first place
decided to hold a disciplinary hearing. All that had happened was that the PSDB had
not run the hearing properly. The procedural errors made by the PSDB does not take
away the reason for having Mr Sese face the substantive charges.

Meetings of the Public Service Commission Board ("PSC") re appointment
and discipline of Mr Sese

In the evidence that was given under cath, the following information was given by
the witnesses:

One of the PSC Board members, Mr Kalbovi Mangawal, stated that from
December 1997 he had on a number of occasions told his colleagues on the
PSC Board that a mere disciplinary hearing before a PSDB was inadequate for
Mr Sese's case. Mr Mangawai says he called for a full scale enquiry to be
commenced because of the seriousness of the issues raised in the
Ombudsman’s reports.



(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Mr Mangawai also states that after Mr Sese submitted his appeal he agreed
that the PSDB decision could not stand. However, he also states that he
emphasised to Messrs Basil and Kalo that Mr Sese's appeal was just against
the process and that the facts of the case still had to be investigated.

Mr Kere says that the Interview Panel which interviewed Mr Sese on 27
February was not informed by Mr Boe or the PSC Board about the
Ombudsman's first report let alone provided with a copy. This is to be
contrasted with Mr Boe’s request to the Ombudsman for information about
another candidate, X. X was not successful in obtaining one of the D-G
positions, Ms Tuisawau in a letter states “/ was informed that he was being
investigated by your office and that there was a case against him but which he
#Lad already lodged an appeal.” Mr Kere says that he leamt of the case after
the interview.

Mr Bebe says that, when the PSC tock the decision to quash the PSDB
decision, he repeated to Mr Kalo that the legal advice was that the case had to
be started again. He states that Mr Kalo ignored him. An officer from the
Aéto_rney General's Office subsequently confirned what Mr Bebe had said the
advice was.

Mr Bebe was present when Mr Kalo and Mr Sese exchanged apologies on 17
March (ncted in the chronclogy) in Mr Kalo’s office. Both Messrs Kalo and
Bebe stated that Mr Sese apologised to the PSC in part for the ‘hardness’ of
his appeal and in part for the situation that had occurred in the Foreign Affairs
Department with the issue of passports as detailed in the Ombudsman'’s two
reports. Mr Kalo also said that Mr Sese had asked him to cancel the case
against Mr Sese. Refer annexure 1.

Mr Kalo was adamant in stating that the idea to drop the whole case against
Mr Sese was the idea of Mr Boe. Mr Boe was egually adamant in denying that
this was his idea and that Mr Kalo was trying to shift the blame. Mr Kalo was
re-interviewed. Mr Kalo stuck by his story and said that Mr Boe had an official
line and an unofficial line. He further stated that Mr Boe telephoned about two
days before the apology incident and had him visit Mr Boe in Mr Boe's office.
Mr Kalo alleges that when he went to Mr Boe's office Mr Boe told him to drop
the case.

Ancther Board member, Mr Edwin Basil, stated that the manner in which the
case against Mr Sese was put to one side and his appointment made was
Mr Kalo's idea. He said that Mr Boe and a consultant adviser to the Board,
Mr Mick Mimnaugh, supported this. Messrs Boe and Mimnaugh denied this.
Mr Basil was reinterviewed on this peint and maintained his story.

Mr Basil also attributed statements to Mr Mick Mimnaugh that were generally
dismissive of the contents of the Ombudsman’s reports, stating words to the
effect,: “Anyone can write a report. What does it prove? Where's the proof?
The Board does not have to take any account of these reports'.
Mr Mick Mimnaugh, like Mr Boe, admitted to not having read the Ombudsman’s
reports. Mr Mick Mimnaugh denied the statements but alsc said that he
repeated the oral advice that the Attorney General had given to him at a meeting
he had had with the Attorney General. That was that the PSC Board did not
have to rely on the Ombudsman's findings but should make their own
investigation.

In answer to arguments from Mr Mangawai and Mr Bebe that it would be better
for the PSC Beard to wait until Mr Sese had faced ancther disciplinary hearing,
Mr Basil alleged that Mr Boe told the PSC Board that the Prime Minister, Rt Hon
D Kalpokas had approved Mr Sese for the position in his Office. Rt Hon
Kalpokas was interviewed. The Prime Minister denied this allegation. The
Prime Minister's evidence was given in a truthful and open fashion and is
accordingly accepted by me as such. Mr Basil was re-interviewed in the face
of Mr Boe's denial that he had said the Prime Minister had approved Mr Sese.
Mr Basil stood by his earlier evidence that Mr Boe had made the statement.
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(i)

(a)

As noted above already, Messrs Boe and Mr Mimnaugh both denied
supporting a decision to ignore the disciplinary matter of Mr Sese and other
allegations that members of the Board made against them in interviews.
Mr Mimnaugh further stated that:

(1) his understanding was that Mr Sese had not been appointed and that his
appointment had been deferred. The PSC Board minutes of 24 and 31
March 1998 are consistent with what Mr Mick Mimnaugh says;

(ii) with Mr Boe, he tabled a memorandum dated 17 March 1998 to the PSC
Board, prepared by Mr Kanam Wilson (director of the PS Office) with his
assistance that recommended deferral of the appointment of Mr Sese.
Again what he says is supported by the document itself on page 2:

The nominee for Director General for the Pnime Ministers Ministry
currently has a disciplinary case before the Commission and no action
should be taken on this recommendation until this matter has been
resolved.

(iif) there may have been communication difficulties because he spoke
English with some basic Bislama and the PSC Board members were all
francophone. However, Mr Boe was present and he speaks fluent
Bislama and English.

Role of Mr Mick Mimnaugh and Mr Boe

What also became clear after interviewing was that the PSC Board were closely
assisted in their decision making by Mr Boe and Mr Mimnaugh. Unusually, ther
presence is not recorded in the minutes of the PSC Board. This is despite the fact
that the minutes have a place for recerding those present. The minutes are therefore
misleading in this respect. It also became clear that the minutes do not set out fully all
of the discussion that went on over Mr Sese. The inadequacy of the minutes
explains in part why the witnesses were able to come up with differing accounts of
what occurred on identical topics.

Mr Mick Mimnaugh came to Vanuatu on 14 January 1998 with ten years of
experience in Papua Mew Guinea. As explained by him, his role is connected o the
performance improvement in the public sector under the Comprehensive Reform
Program (“CRP").

Mr Boe is the recently appointed Secretary of the Public Service Office (praviously
called the Public Service Department). Mr Boe is an important link between the
management of the Public Service and the PSC Board, the decision maker. His job is
to administer the decisions of the PSC Board, which are directed at personnel matters.
He also helps ensure the smaoth running of the Public Service. The Public Service is
responsible for administering and providing many of the services made available to
the people of Vanuatu.

Mr Mick Mimnaugh and Mr Boe therefore worked closely together in the Public Service
Office and, in turn, with the PSC Board, It was explained that Messrs Mimnaugh and
Boe started attending meetings of the PSC Board shortly after Mr Mick Mimnaugh
arrived in Vanuatu, Mr Mimnaugh states that he and Mr Boe came to the first meeting
sometime in February at the oral invitation of the PSC Board. After the first
attendance Mr Mimnaugh says that the PSC Board asked them to come to every
meeling thereafter.

According to them, all three Board members were influenced by what Messrs Boe and
Mr Mimnaugh said. Mcreover, it was clear from the manner in which they gave their
evidence at the Ombudsman’s Office that they felt that they were put under scme
pressure. This pressure appeared to come from two factors:

The PSC Board members saw Messrs Boe and Mr Mimnaugh as better
gualified than they; and
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(b) Messrs Boe and Mr Mimnaugh were key facilitators of the Government backed

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Comprehensive Reform Program and the appointment of Director-Generals was
part of that process. To be seen to be standing in the way of the appointment
of Mr Sese may have been seen to be standing in the way of the CRP.

Whatever the true picture, it appears that, at times, there was an uneasy relationship
between the PSC Board members and Messrs Boe and Mimnaugh. Mr Mimnaugh
thought that there might have been some ill feeling between the Board and Mr Boe.
Certain comments made by some of the PSC Board members were consistent with
that. Mr Mick Mimnaugh also speculated that the Ombudsman’s Office’s difficulty in
trying to find out how Mr Sese's appointment went through could have been caused
by a Melanesian cultural approach in taking responsibility for decisions.

Disputed facts and undisputed facts

It is clear from the above that there was disagreement between the withesses about
who said what. Some of the contradictory statements are difficult to rescive.
However, there are some key facts that are not in dispute which | consider to be most
important. These are:

Whatever the various witnesses may say were the events leading up to his
appointment, Mr Jean Sese is apparently and Sresently holding the post of the
permanent Director-General in the Office of the Prime Minister;

Mr Sese's appointment was made by the PSC Board and at the end of the day
it is the PSC Board who is responsible for the decision;

On 17 March 1998 before the appointment of Mr Sese, Messrs Kalo and Sese
exchanged apologies (refer annexure 1). This was confidential as indicated on
the record of the apolegies.

No-one gave the Interview Panel a copy of the Ombudsman’s first report on
the issue of passports before it interviewed Mr Sese on 27 February 1998; and

As at the date of this report, the PSC has nat recommenced disciplinary action
for what, on any objective analysis, are very serious instances of gross
maladministration as documented in the Ombudsman’s two reports.

There was one other area where there was litle dispute. Messrs Kalo, Basil,
Mangawai, Bebe and Boe all conceded under cath that the appointment of Mr Sese
in the circumstances was not transparent and secondly that he had not yet been
made accountable. In view of the fact of Mr Sese's appointment this is a remarkable
concession. The question that then arises is why the appointment was made. No
satisfactory answer to this question was received from anyone in the interviews.

A wider concern, independence of the PSC and transparency

In addition to these two preblems (appointment and lack of disciplinary action) that
have occurred with the Sese case is another, wider concem. This concem is the
potential for prejudice to the independence of the PSC Board. The legal framework
that provides for the independence of the PSC and makes it of paramount importance
is set out above and reflected elsewhere in the Public Service Commission Act.

It is now known that previous govemments did not fully observe the function of the
PSC as the body solely responsible for appointments to the Public Service. Indeed,
a number of Ombudsman's reports revealed clear examples of interference by the
Prime Minister's Office in the PSC's appeintment function. Some have commented
that the Ombudsman's reports contributed to the momentum that led to the CRP.
Amongst the CRP principles is one that requires appointments based on merit and
ethically sound grounds and not based on irrelevant considerations such as politics or
wantokism.
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What has emerged from this case is not a case of overt political interference of the
nature seen In the past. Rather, it is of 2 more subtle type. It appears that in the
enthusiasm that has grown out of the positive and worthy features of the CRP, the
independence of the PSC on this occasion has been diminished in the face of this
policy or, altematively, the quality of its decision making process adversely affected.

One motivation in this particular case may have been to push through a candidaie
who has strong educational qualifications and presents well, to keep up with the CRP
timetable and the desire to fill the posts. In this regard it is appropriate to note
Ms Tuisawau comment in her letter which suggests that the decision to appoint could
have been deferred:

We did discuss with the Chaimman of Public Service Commission whether we
could go on with the interview and because it was thought that his case was
still not fully resolved or conclusively clear at that point in time we would make
the recommendations anyhow as he was extremely outstanding. However, |
recollect that there was also an understanding that one other - ie. the
next highest scoring one on the interview had to be identified as the
one to be recommended should J Sese not be acceptable lo
Government because of his case.

(My emphasis on Ms Tuisawau s quaote)

The documents provided by the PS Office show that a second candidate was not
submitted to the PSC despite what Ms Tuisawau said was the understanding made.

Another motivation that | do not discount Is that there could be an element of
favouritism towards Mr Sese. Mr Boe stated that he and Mr Sese have known each
other for about ten years and share the same Ambae language. It is difficult to know
whether or not this connection affected the approach of Mr Boe, The problem that
does arise for Mr Boe is that the appointment being pushed through in a hurry gives
rise to at least the perception of wantokism. This is because of the absence of any
logical reason being given by anyone for appeinting Mr Sese without first allowing
his disciplinary case to be dealt with. Indeed, when squarely faced with the issue, all
of the Board members, Mr Boe and Mr Bebe agreed that it was not transparent and
could not justify the decision.

However, | repeat that at the end of the day it is the Public Service Commissien
Board that is the final decision maker. It is not appropriate to try and shift the blame
onta Mr Boe or Mr Mick Mimnaugh, even if it is true that pressure was put on Mr Kalo
and the other two members (and | expressly make no finding on the point). It is the
PSC Board therefore that must face criticism. This is what this report has done.

There is another problem that is potentially created by the PSC Board's conduct in
failing to proceed again with Mr Sese's disciplinary case. That problem is that
disciplinary procedures will be seen to apply to some but not all public servants, Itis
unrealistic to expect junior public servants to respect the decisions of the PSDB ff
saome departmental heads receive preferential treatment when their cases or appeals
are dealt with. It is a fundamental right in Vanuatu under our Constitution that the law
is applied equally to all no matter one's rank, status, origin or sex.

10
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PRELIMINARY REPORT AND REPLY RECEIVED

Issue and circulation of confidential preliminary report

On or about 11 May 1998, a confidential preliminary report was circulated to the
following persons:

1.  Mr Joseph Kalo, Former PSC Chairman

2.  Mr Kalpovi Mangawai, PSC Member

3. Mr Edwin Basil, PSC Member

4.  Mr George Pakoasongi As Current Chairman Of PSC
5 Mr Job Boe, PS Office Secretary

6.  Mr Mimnaugh

Fi Mr Bergmans Bebe

B. Mr Jean Sese, D-G Of PM’s Office

9, Rt Hon D Kalpokas, Prime Minister

The letters that went with the preliminary reports invited comment from those sent the
repont, either orally or in writing. The letters requested a reply within 15 days, that is
on or about 26 May 1998. The Ombudsman’s Office had a request from one of the
recipients for an extra time to reply. That request and a further oral request was
granted but no reply subsequently received. This put the due date for this report in
final foerm out to @ June 1998.

Mr Pakoasongi, PSC Chairman

On 19 June 1998 | received a letter dated 25 May 1998 from the current PSC
chairman Mr Pakoasongi suggesting that he would reply once he had received written
legal advice from the Attorney General. A copy of that letter is annexed to this report
as annexure 2,

On 25 June 1998, despite the lateness of receipt of Mr Pakcasongi's letter, | agreed
to allow him further time for a short pericd. In my letter, | also did two further things.
First, | raised with him comments the Trading Post on 3 June guoted him as saying,
namely:

the former Director of Foreign Affairs, Jean Sese who was suspended
by the former Vohor Govemment, had been cleared by the PSC
Disciplinary Board after finding no evidence that he was implcated in
the sale of Vanuatu passports as alleged in the Ombudsman's report.

In my letter, | stated to Mr Pakoasongi as follows:

On this Office’s information this statement is incorrect. First, the report in question
did not say Mr Sese had sold passports, The finding against Mr Sese in the
report was orientated to a failure to follow the law as regards lo proper issue of an
official passport to JY Jung. Secondly, the PSC Disciplinary Board made no such
finding nor could they since no evidence was properly called; such fact, being one

1
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of the reasons for the subsequent enquiry by this office. | am surprised that no
correction has subsequently been published by the Trading Post. Have you
sought to have the Trading Post correct these missiatements?

If the PSC Board has in fact "cleared” Mr Sese at ancther hearing after the issue of
my preliminary report can you please send me a copy of the decision and record of
proceedings. | note that these are public hearings and thus a matter of public
record.

Secondly, | stated to Mr Pakoasongi as follows:

If the PSC was to convene a properly constituted and briefed Disciplinary
Board to properly and fully adjudicate the charges against Mr Sese it is open to
our Cffices to resclve the matter without proceeding with a public report.

By 3 July 1998, Mr Pakoasongi had not provided a reply to the preliminary report cr
my letter of 25 June 1998. A telephone call was placed by the Ombudsman’s Office
to the Public Service Commission to secure a response from Mr Pakoasongi. Our
telephone call was not retumed. A copy of my letter dated 25 June 1998 to
Mr Pakoasongi is annexed as 3.

Reply of Mr Bebe

There was one reply from the nine persons who received the report. This came from
Mr Bebe. The substance of each of the points made by Mr Bebe are set out below
with my comments.

(paragraph 1.2 above). Mr Bebe replied that the Ombudsman accused
Mr Sese of selling passports, Secondly, Mr Bebe said that sections 1 and 2 of
the Diplomatic and Official Passports Act [CAP 179] provided that it was the
Minister's decision whether or not passports were issued. “The Minister has
the final say’ Thus, in effect, the role of the Department of Foreign Affairs is to
be obey the Minister.

Comment:

The issue of the legality of Mr Sese's actions in issuing passports following
instructions from the Minister of Foreeign Affairs is not the subject of the report. The
conduct criticised in this report is the failure of the PSC to properly convene a
properly prepared PSC Disiplinary Board hearing and to appoint Mr Sese before that
matter had be substantively heard.

The reports referred to do not contain any allegation that Mr Sese sold passports. He
is criticised for allowing them to be issued. Hence the recommendation that he face
disciplinary action that deals with his conduct substantively. | do not understand
why Mr Bebe is seeking to defend Mr Sese before a proper disciplinary board
hearing has been convened. His comments appear to show a bias and thus may
make it unsuitable for him to be further involved.

As far as it may be relevant to address the point, section 2 of the Diplomatic and
Official Passports Act [CAP 179] states as foilows:

(1) Subject to the provisions of this Act, an officer authorised _in that
behalf by the Minister may issue Vanuatu diplomatic and
afficial passports,

(2) Diplomatic and official passports shall be issued in the name of the Minister
responsible for the foreign affairs of the Republic of Vanuatu and shall be in
such forms as are presaribed by the Minister.

(3 Mo fee shall be charged for the issue of dipiematic and official passports.

There is no power for the Foreign Affairs Minister to issue diplomatic or official
passports in this law. The Minister's power is restricted to appointing the officer from

12



the Foreign Affairs Department. It is that officer whe is to issue these passports nol
the Minister. Mr Bebe therefore is wrong in what he says. The Minister does not
have the final say. Passports of this type are issued subject to the provisions of
the Act not to the Minister's say.

(b) Mr Bebe commented that it was the PSC Disciplinary Board naormal procedure
to suspend a public servant pending his or her hearing on disciplinary charges.
Comment:
[have no comment,
(c) (Paragraphs 1.3 and 4.5) Mr Bebe accepted that he did not see the Altorney

(d)

(e)

(f)

General for legal advice before proceeding to arrange the disciplinary hearing for
Mr Sese. He however suggested that he had obtained legal advice
beforehand. He said that he had obtained this from one of the lawyers at the
Ombudsman's Office. Mr Bebe said that he was advised that the PSCDB
could go ahead with the hearing without a specific plaintiff.

Comment:

Mr Bebe is correct in part about what he was told at the Ombudsman’s Office. When
he came to pick up documents that the PSC had asked for from the Ombudsman
needed for Mr Sese's hearing he asked to speak to a lawyer at the Ombudsman’s
Office. One of the lawyers saw Mr Bebe. Mr Bebe said that Mr Job Boe refused to
appear as the plaintiff at the hearing because Mr Boe had said that he did not know
much about the case of Mr Sese. Mr Bebe was told that since the matter was a
disciplinary hearing (not a civil action) it was not a matter of having a specific persen
as a plaintiff but rather a hearing before the Board. Mr Bebe confirmed later that this
advice was consistent with advice he had once been told before by a previous
Attorney General. However, they proceeded without presenting any evidence at the
hearing.

Having asked one question while at the Ombudsman’s Office picking up documents
does not amount to the legal advice that was necessary for proper preparation of the
case. What was needed was for the Attorney General's Office to have been fully
briefed and for one of its officers to draw up the charges, supervise the gathering of
evidence and preparation for the hearing and to assist the Board at the hearing. |
note Mr Bebe's comment that he copied documents relating to the Sese disciplinary
hearing to the Attoney Gnereal. On further query by myself, Mr Bebe later said that
he made a mistake in not geting the advice. He explained that he did not do so
because he believed that the Sese matter was a straightforward case.

(Paragraph 4.3, chronology): Mr Bebe disagreed that the minutes of 24.03.28
and 31.03.98 were unclear over whether or not Mr Sese’s appointment had
been made or deferred.

Comment:
hey were unclear to me.

(Paragraph 4.7(c) above): Mr Bebe responds to my statement that Mr Kalo
ignored the advice that Mr Bebe passed onto Mr Kale from the Aftorney
General's Office that the disciplinary hearing should be recommenced after the
qushing of the PSCDB hearing. Mr Bebe says that the PSC is made up of
commissioners and that the decision was one of the whole board.

Comment:

Mr Bebe is correct that the decision was a decision of the Board as a whole. That
was ot the point of paragraph 4.7(c). In his sworn evidence the point that Mr Bebe
was getting across was that the former Chairman, Mr Kalo, was not interested in
hearing or considering the advice that he had obtained from the Attorney General's
advice.

(Paragraph 4.8 above): Mr Bebe responds o my criicism about the minutes
not recording all the persons present at the meetings. Mr Bebe replied that he

13
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could not write down all the details of what was said at the meetings. Mr Bebe
said that he was legally only required to take down the main points.

Comment:
This explanation is very weak. Noting which persons attend an official meeting is
one of the first things a minute taker will (should) write down.

(q) (Paragraph 4.20): Mr Bebe says that he did not agree that the appointment
was not fransparent nor that he could not justify the decision. He reasoned that
the PSC’s decision was good because they spent time on it and studied the
recommendations of the Selection Board closely.

Comment:
Mr Bebe's sworn evidence was taped. | stand by what is in the report.

(h) (paragraphs 4.8-4.13): Mr Bebe generally disagreed with these paragraphs as
they relate to Mr Boe and Mr Mimnaugh saying that they were a “false
interpretation”. He says that the men simply explained and translated to the
commissioners the work of the Selection Commmittee.

Comment:

MrBebe is entitlied to his opinion of events as seen through his eyes. Others that
were interviewed gave evidence that suggested a different story to this Office. The
interpretation placed on events in this report was based on all the evidence that was
given. What was particuarly apparent in the interviews were statements made by
some witnesses to shift blame to others.

Conclusion

| am grateful to Mr Bebe for spending time and closely reading the preliminary report
and taking time to consider and reply to it. Mr Bebe also pointed out some mistakes in
detail which resulted in corrections appearing in this final report.

It is significant that Mr Bebe did not take any issue with the confidential apology
incident that occurred on 17 March 1998 between Messrs Sese and Kalo. This is
perhaps one of the central events in this matter that so damages the reputation of the
PSC as an independent and even handed body.

Having considered the ocne reply | received, the findings made in the preliminary
report remain unaltered. These appear in the next section.

FINDINGS

FINDING NO 1: THE PSC BOARD (MESSRS JOSEPH KALO, EDWIN BASIL AND
KALBOVI MANGAWAI) FAILED TO ENSURE THE PSDB WAS
PROVIDED WITH LEGAL ADVICE FOR THE PURPOSE OF
PAEPARING AND RUNNING ITS (PSDB) DISCIPLINARY
HEARING. THUS, ITS SUPERVISORY PRACTICE IN THIS
INSTANCE OF THE PSDB WAS DEFECTIVE AND
UNSATISFACTQORY.

Fl NO 2: THE PSC BOARD'S (MESSRS JOSEPH KALO, KALBOVI
MANGAWAI AND EDWIN BASIL) DECISION TO ABANDON MR
SESE’'S DISCIPLINARY CASE WAS BLATANTLY
UNREASONABLE.

FINDING NO 3: THE PSC BOARD’S (MESSRS JOSEPH KALO, EDWIN BASIL
AND KALBOVI MANGAWAI) DECISION TO APPOINT MR SESE

14
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6.2

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

AS DIRECTOR-GENERAL IN THE PRIME MINISTER’S OFFICE
WAS BLATANTLY UNREASONABLE AND BASED ON AN ERROR
OF FACT (IN THAT NO REASONABLE EXPLANATION COULD BE
POINTED TQ) AND ©OR WAS BASED ON [IRRELEVANT
CONSIDERATIONS.

The memo prepared by Mr Kanam Wilson dated 17 March 1998 recommended that
any decision to appoint Mr Sese be deferred. Mr Kalo in his evidence accepted that
he ignored that recommendation and was unable to give any reason as to why he
ignored the recommendation. Mr Kalo was unable to explain or justify the
appointment of Mr Sese other than to say Mr Boe told him to do it who was
supported by Mr Mimnaugh (denied by them).

FINDING NO 4: THE PSC BOARD’S DECISIONS GAVE RISE TO INCONSISTENCY
AND  POTENTIAL UNJUSTNESS TO OTHER POTENTIAL
APPLICANTS. OVERALL, THE PSC BOARD'S CONDUCT IN
APPDINTING MR SESE LACKED TRANSPARENCY AND HIS
APPOINTMENT IS THEREFORE COMPROMISED.

Additionally, the failure to give the Interview Panel a copy of the Ombudsman’s report
where Mr Sese was named was a defective exercise of its powers, particularly when
Mr Kalo sat on both the PSC Board and the Interview Panel as chairperson.

FINDING NO 5: THE PRACTICE OF KEEPING MINUTES BY THE PSC BOARD AND
ITS SECRETARY, MR BERGMANS BEBE OF THE PSC BOARD
MEETINGS WAS INADEQUATE AND DEFECTIVE.

RECOMMENDATIONS

RECOMMENDATION NO 1: THE PSC CONVENE A PSC DISCIPLINARY
BOARD TO  SUBSTANTIVELY HEAR THE
DISCIPLINARY CASE OF MR SESE.

The PSC initially followed the recommendations in the two reports that that Mr Sese
face disciplinary action. The original decision of the PSC Disciplinary Board was
quashed because it did not follow the correct procedures and no evidence was called.
This is the equivalent of a mis-trial.

This does not mean that the substantive case “goes away”. It should be started
again. There can be no logical reason for abandoning the course already taken. This
time however, | strongly recommend that the Board be given full legal assistance from
the Attorney Gneral’s Chambers, both in preparation and at the hearing.

This is a practice | recommend for all disciplinary hearings.

RECOMMENDATION NO 2: IN FUTURE, THE PSC CONSIDER ADOPTING A
POLICY OF DEFERRING PENDING
APPOINTMENTS OF PUBLIC SERVANTS WHO
ARE FACING DISCIPLINARY ACTION UNTIL
COMPLETION OF SUCH ACTION.

The above is self-explanatory. Moreover, it is noted that this is what one of the
Selection Committee members noted as having been agreed in the appointment of
Mr Sese.
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RECOMMENDATION NO 3:THE PSC CONSIDER HAVING A SHORTHAND
NOTE TAKER RECOD FULL MINUTES OF ITS
MEETINGS.

Dated this 9th day of July 1998.

Marie-Noelle FERRIEUX PATTERSON
OMBUDSMAN OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU
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ANNEXURES

PSC Minutes of Meeting dated 17.03.98

Letter from Chairman of PSC, Mr George Pakoasongi to the Ombudsman dated
26.05.98

Letter from the Ombudsman to Mr George Pakoasocngi dated 25.06.98.

17



PR —

RESUELCUE OE VANUATL

COMXMISSION DE LA
FONCTION PUBLIGQUE

Zac szl Pave Na. 117
Farr-viia

Izzm : Pmbklic SerTice Comm-ssian

-

Zor=-¥ila

et e
REFLELIC CF VANLATUY

PUBLIC SERYVICE
COMDESIION

Fvare ‘ai Sag Ng. =7
Fo Vila

BE) S ESIN 3 8

LDats : 17.03.88
1
-_
Re : Case £°001/88 - ¥= Jearn SES= NNt x
Claizman mo Secratariss sf 2SC, lzng mi=ias Riane Z1Z8Tz wezTam
vear SEEE, Tafala party I 0in akoclacdcem ol faflurs ooone mmtalis.

¥c w2 lzng Z3s hlong Chairmap mo Secracgarsiss, Mz, Jean SEET 4 =i-
Zekam wan APQLOGY long Comm-ssicn lone ha-cress slong &pgil Disne
Sem me tu ¢l sEmrTicg we hemi aekem,

Nac L k=m se FSC L =i7ck=m 2SCB decisizn lopg Dempisep oo
Sy SEEZ mTCc reinsTaTam Dem 1ong acrmal Susy SoSnT hem =
2ackizagam salasy Slong Zem zgzoréiocly, a5 S--m La- AR 2558,

' w—  w
Mam=az—=

= -

- — S — i e
Rt s T it AT B P
Mx» Xa_ o MINGINET




| #Z GOUVERNEMENT
DE LA
REPUBLIQUE DE VANUATU

gt R :'.‘J“?ﬂﬁl‘“#- e

_MEMOHANDUM

I ,Vﬂ:}ﬂf. oy

GOVERNMENT
OF THE
REPUBLIC CF VANUATU

P\N NEx 2

'*FubrlcfSErulca_commlsslonaw:;gg.v,-,-
e BTl RS e ST T qmwwﬁéﬁﬁﬁ et
X con e MS Marig-Noelle Ferrisux. PATTERSON .

‘PME 081
'F'QEI—U [ [‘&

Dzar Madam,

19 JUM 1588

S e Y

IS AN

Oi

RE : PUBLIC REPORTS CONCERNING THE PUBELIC SERVIGE COMMISSION

Thank you for sending me your priliminary repcrt
SESE case by

on the handling of the Jear

commissicn.

vour findings
Public sarviace

After our meeting of 29th ﬁpr‘l
with the attcrney Geansral. floated =2
r2gards to Mr sSese's case for some lzgal
other stesps If any, thaet the Commissign

'.-J'\.-‘

sEXLL for thelir written adwic

waiting

arranged tz mest
=W guesticons in

a
opinisns a2
gould ar sh
and as menticned during our ‘Qchrone communicarcicn,

detailing
the

Plzase e rest assured that I will write to you anes I z2m in
rzcelipt of thair advice., I also nesd to be very very glsar
oMy own mind epricr to making any commitments on sapsr 3 O
oresently feel as 1T I werse standing getwesen Swoe Dival
factions with gach one talling me *hat that 4ther s Wreng
wnli2 the other :3 =damant that She:ir wigw is tigho, - sagcs
that you gan Dear with me until I =30 sS2 My We 20
Thiz 1ssue

In dg Tar as my refusél To your ofilce '3 T=auest Lo D=
Turnizhed with the Jommission's minutzs of iE=s meetings, I
wowuld likeg 9 re'iteratzs that this was dope follzwlng oral
agwisE Irom the AfTornevy cgengral's giffices whe ars this
commission's legal adwisors. again, I am =till weitipng to
Dave Thiz adviceE foom tThem 1o Black anmd white and we will



ﬂrenly ta

z **:agardfnq tha Seven (7} .Page’ documant
your rencrts and rncomnandatlans -
tbat ue haya set ‘the na 3 ‘ralling on soma of them. nama1f~

A

sy

R

al

g)

Cd

%
L]

,Jﬁr '*Jmfbﬁﬂﬁmﬁw* %.-ﬂﬁaﬁm
tthsecondﬂlastiparagrap of$ycur
gtail

I wculd llRE tc 1ﬂ;arm

AUDITOR GENERASL

This zositlon was advertised on 12th May, 1998,
UTra OTNT cHETT i g
The Commission at its meeting of last wesk
dpproved the rzeruitment of a Gynaecclogist fer -
the 0znrtral Hospltal t
Efc f:i‘jﬁ‘ﬂ[l:ﬁ[gﬂ EQ Eﬂd
*hasg forms have been Tz-drafted as
TEcommendac

ENT o N T
The new Public serwvics Act of the stafs
Marua! incorperatss appointment procsdurss
that are based solaly on mar:ic
SALT OF TOUVERNMENT HOUSZS AND THE HEALTH
WORKERS ZASE
YoUT TEECTYS on The abcove c3ses wherz Wers
sgnT oo The Psd wergs just readsseen
Y ME 278 APTLII, 1993, A meme was dirscted CO
rhg PS¢ sSecrgtariant Ior ZosEm Lo CADRDY QAT
imwgetigatisns 1ntd Trem and o agvyizs foe
TEMMiZslon on whar oo de. alszo ilocliucsEd wers
sight 13 orher cutstanding gases Wwhidd I
mane 3o T tderntifizg



T UnT Jﬂ‘g,-—l_u- car‘r: Ut
e . outstanding ﬂﬁcases as’ wa_rz_’
your,, fflcer s raports‘ T

We are in tne process of researching the possibility of
recrulting somebedy with a legal background to head the
Investigating unit. If and when ready, they will be making
calls to your office to compare notss on findings.

I will be contacting vour office on a2 rveEgular basis 7o let
vou know how we ars progressing but in the meantime ! would
like to thank you for acknowledging the fact that these
problams were inperited but that I will do my best to

address as much as I can given my oressnt work schedules
under the Restructuring 2 Rightsizing of the Public serv
{overT 4700 persons:) in which the Commission is reguirzsd

be involwved in avery level of its process,

Yeurs sincerely, e of

Q‘A&s:; z

[ Commissien )
g

-

20T 52 PAKOAZONGI
chairman




ANNEX 2

- Office of the Ombudsman
Bureau du Médiateur
Ofis blong Ombudsman

8511/2571/L17/PSC Chairman 25 June 1998

Mr George Pakoasongi
Chairman’

Public Service Cammission
PORT VILA

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL

Dear Mr Pakoasongi

PRELIMINARY REPORT ON THE CONDUCT OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE
COMMISSION  (“PSC") FAILURE TO HOLD A COMPETENT
DISCIPLINARY HEARING FOR AND APPOINTMENT OF MR J SESE AS
DIRECTOR GENERAL OF PRIME MINISTER'S OFFICE

1. | refer to my letter of 11 May accompanying the above report and seeking a
respcnse from ycu in 15 days. vour letter dated 26 May 1998 (but received 19
June) shows a delay which is not a reasonable excuse to postpone our waork
as required by the Constitution. My feeling is that | have allowed ample time
for vou 1o be able io take whatever agvice you deem fit and grovide a response
an behalf of the Pubiic Service Commission.

o Notwithstanding the stated desire 10 provide a respgonse [0 the preliminary
-eport | note that you have been recorted in the media making comments in
~gnrecticn with the subject mater of the abcve repert. In particutar, | am
raferring «© an article antitied a0 Head says Sese was sleared” appearing
on page 3 of the Trading Post \o 251, 3 June 1898. In the arucie ycu are
attributed with the following statement:

=g tormar Cirecior of Farsign Aifairs. Jean Sess 'wrno was suspenced 3y hE
:rmer ‘Johor Government, had been clearsc oy he PSC Disciclirary Begara
after finding no avicenca hat ne Wwas meiicated in he sae of Vanuald
sasscerns as allegad 1N e Cmopudsman’'s "26crm

4 On this Office’s information this siaterment is incarrect. First. the report in
gueston did not say Mr Sese had scid Dassooris. The finding against Mr Sese
in *he report was crnentated © a zailure to follow the iaw 3as -egards 'C proper
issue of an official passport ¢ JY Jung. Secandly, the PSC Cisciplinary Board
made no such finding ner could they since no avidence was properly called:

such fact, being one of the reasons for the subsequent enauiry by this office. |
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am surprised that no correction has subsequently been published by the
Trading Post. Have you sought to have the Trading Post correct these
misstatements?

i the PSC Board has in fact “cleared” Mr Sese at another hearing after the
issue of my preliminary report ¢can you please send me a copy of the decision
and record of proceedings. | note that these are public hearings and thus a
matter of public record.

In any event, the main purpose of this letter is to inform you that | am
proceeding to issue the final report on this matter at the end of this week or
early next week. Accordingly, | be would be most appreciative to be able to
consider any specific comments (if any) you may have on behalf of the Public
Service Commission. if the PSC was to convene a properly constituted and
briefed Disciplinary Board to properly and fully adjudicate the charges against
Mr Sese it is open to our Offices to resolve the matter without proceeding with
a public report.

Finally, | must say how encouraged | am to learn from your letter of the PSC's
proposal to hire a legally qualified person to head an investigating unit. This
could also be a real help to the PSC's Disciplinary Board. | look forward to
hearing from you on how this develops.

| have also noted and thank you for your advices in reference to other matters
reported on by this Office.

Yours sincerely

[a¥

(001~

L

Marie-Noelle FERRIEUX PATTERSON
OMBUDSMAN OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU



